CITY OF BRIDGEPORT
ORDINANCE COMMITTEE
REGULAR MEETING
JUNE 24, 2025

ATTENDANCE: Aikeem Boyd, Co-chair; Eneida Martinez, Co-chair; Jeanette
Herron, Michelle Lyons; Ernest Newton, Maria Valle

OTHERS: Council Member(s): Council President A. Nieves, S. Burns, A. Castillo &
M. Pereira; M. Jankovsky, Associate City Attorney; Daniel Roach, Public
Facilities

CALL TO ORDER

Co-chair Boyd called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. A quorum was present.

APPROVAL OF COMMITTEE MINUTES:

* May 28, 2025 (Regular Meeting)

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED THE MINUTES OF THE MAY 28, 2025
ORDINANCE MEETING.

** COUNCIL MEMBER VALLE SECONDED.

** THE MOTION TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE MAY 28, 2025 ORDINANCE
MEETING AS SUBMITTED PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.

* June 2, 2025 (Public Hearing)

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED THE MINUTES OF THE JUNE 2, 2025
PUBLIC HEARING.

** COUNCIL MEMBER HERRON SECONDED.

** THE MOTION TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE JUNE 2, 2025 PUBLIC
HEARING AS SUBMITTED PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.

94-24 Proposed Amendment to the Municipal Code of Ordinances, Chapter 15.08 —
Building Permits and Fees, amend Section 15.08.010 — Building Permit and
Related Fees.

Council Member Burns said this was a request for a waiver of permit fees due to a
miscommunication between the City and a developer who wants to install a Class 1 Energy
Source heating system for Bassick, UB and other buildings. It is very energy efficient. This
project has been in the works for the past seven or eight years and this would bring it online.

Council Member Newton expressed his support for this.

City of Bridgeport

Ordinance Committee

Regular Meeting

June 24, 2025 Page 1



Mr. Roach said that this project had started in 2014 and he gave the highlights of the fuel cells
system. He noted that the City has been carrying half a million dollars in terms of permit fees on
the structure itself. They did not include some of the electrical equipment and this would add
another $600,000 to the fees. The fees and taxes that would be due to the City in 2026 would be
about $650,000 and the trade fees on top of that would be another $100,000. The PILOT would
add another $231,000. When the discussion was held with OPED, there was a misunderstanding
about what the property taxes would include. He reviewed the details with the Committee and
noted that the fees for the first year would end up being close to $1 million dollars. The property
itself is currently generating about $3,300 a year.

Aside from the environmental benefits, which will be the customers will no longer be running
their natural gas generators. This will reduce the emissions for the South End by about 2,000
metric tons per year. The heat that these will generate will cost less than if they were heating the
building by normal means. The UB campus HVAC systems are all old and probably vintage
1960’s. They are at the end of their useful life and UB will not have to upgrade those systems.

As part of the PILOT agreement, the City agreed to look at MBE companies and all of the
installation for the fuel cells is being done by MBE companies. There are other parts of the
project that are being constructed, and they have requested that MBE companies be used
whenever possible. However, the project has already reached its MBE commitment level.

Council Member Newton gave the company credit for hiring the MBEs. Discussion followed
about the variety of projects that had incorporated MBEs since 2014.

Council Member Pereira asked for clarification on the amount of fees paid on the project. She
said that she was opposed to this item and stated that she had a copy of the State statute. Council
Member Pereira then listed a number of events where the company had been denied approval by
the State. She also pointed out that the Charter specifically prohibits the passage of any
ordinance that makes a special provision for any business. She said that the Council could not
pick and choose winners or losers, everybody pays the fees. It is stated in Section 7C.

Council Member Pereira said that she had no idea what this was in reference to. Atty. Jankovsky
reviewed this and noted they were not making an exemption for the item. He reviewed the details
for the permit fees and how it would relate to the fuel cells. Discussion followed.

Council Member Valle asked how this situation was allowed to go on for so long without the
issue being identified.

Council Member Martinez said that the company has already fulfilled the majority of their work
including development along Fairfield Avenue and by Bassick High School. There is other
development that is still underway. The company received misinformation from OPED when
they were told that the State of Connecticut would be the one that would cover the fees. Council
Member Martinez said that holding the company liable for the fees would be unacceptable
because OPED should be doing their due diligence and following up on the contracts because
that is their responsibility. This won’t separate him from anyone else in the City that is getting a
tax credit. This developer is bringing development to the City and the project is almost
completed. It’s not his issue that OPED messed up.

City of Bridgeport

Ordinance Committee

Regular Meeting

June 24, 2025 Page 2



Council Member Martinez said that she refused to be in the meeting all night and would be
calling on those listed to speak, followed by a vote on the item. The developer did not cause this
issue, it was caused by OPED. The Council needs to hold OPED accountable.

Council Member Pereira said she had an agreement dated August 2024 and nowhere does it
reference this. The developer is claiming he was given this information but it isn’t in writing. A
corporation with limited assets is required to do their due diligence. She gave the details.

Council Member Pereira asked who it would be benefited. Council Member Martinez said that it
would benefit Bassick.

Council Member Pereira said the language was very specific and violated the Charter.

Council Member Newton said that this was no different for other groups like creating special
taxing districts and such. He said that there were other municipalities that were doing similar
things.

Council Member Castillo said that it didn’t make sense to him and that they would be sending
the power to a New Haven company. It doesn’t benefit Bridgeport. The power that the City
creates from the solar panels goes out to benefit Greenwich and Westport. The contractors that
are there are only there for one job and then they are gone. If the Committee approves this, it
creates an opportunity for others to claim that the City gave it to the developer and now the new
group deserves the same. If it doesn’t benefit the community, then the City doesn’t need the
project. It’s time to have projects that benefits Bridgeport. If it has to do with energy, the City
should benefits. The developer is making a profit.

The developer noted that they were controlled by the regulator process, but they do make money.
Council Member Castillo said that they should pay.

Council Member Burns said next year, the City will receive almost $1 million and the PILOT
was not included in the budget, which will help the City. Regarding the State legislation, he said
that the legislation was done to encourage the City to participate in clean energy and he felt that
it was good for the City.

Council Member Nieves said she felt it was an advantage to the City and that employers will be
able to hook up into this. She said that it would be important to have the money stay here. She
also reviewed the details involving Bassick and noted that the idea was to create sustainable
energy and bring it downtown. There were discussions about bringing UB on it and a few other
schools. She felt that this would help the community in terms of the homeless and the children,
but that won’t be readily seen by people. Sometimes there are agreements that are not included in
the contract. The long term opportunity to the City is cost efficiency. There is a trickle down
effect.

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED AGENDA ITEM 94-24 PROPOSED
AMENDMENT TO THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF ORDINANCES, CHAPTER 15.08 —
BUILDING PERMITS AND FEES, AMEND SECTION 15.08.010 —- BUILDING PERMIT
AND RELATED FEES.

City of Bridgeport

Ordinance Committee

Regular Meeting

June 24, 2025 Page 3



** COUNCIL MEMBER HERRON SECONDED.
** THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED TO SCHEDULE A PUBLIC HEARING ON
AGENDA ITEM 94-24 PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF
ORDINANCES, CHAPTER 15.08 — BUILDING PERMITS AND FEES, AMEND
SECTION 15.08.010 — BUILDING PERMIT AND RELATED FEES ON JULY 7, 2025 AT
6:00 P.M.

** COUNCIL MEMBER HERRON SECONDED.

** THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.

ADJOURNMENT

** COUNCIL MEMBER NEWTON MOVED TO ADJOURN.
** COUNCIL MEMBER HERRON SECONDED.
** THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY.

The meeting adjourned at 6:33p.m.
Respectfully submitted,

S. L. Soltes
Telesco Secretarial Services

City of Bridgeport

Ordinance Committee

Regular Meeting

June 24, 2025 Page 4



